RECEIVED

No. 19-AP-1187

11-15-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

 ν .

DONALD SIMON MULLEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Waukesha County The Honorable Judge Michael P. Maxwell Presiding Case No. 18-TR-1683

BRIEF AND APPENDIX FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, DONALD S. MULLEN

ANTHONY D. COTTON State Bar No. 1055106

JOHN M. BINDER State Bar No. 1107890

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

KUCHLER & COTTON, S.C. 1535 E. Racine Ave. Waukesha, WI 53186 T: (262) 542-4218

F: (262) 542-1993

ISSUE PRESENTED

In the circuit court, the State stipulated that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to initially seize Mr. Mullen. The State argued instead that Mr. Mullen was not seized until he spoke with the officer and until the officer noticed signs of impairment. Thus, the sole issue in this appeal is: under the Fourth Amendment, when was Mr. Mullen seized?

At 1:20 A.M., Mr. Mullen parked his car in the parking lot of a bar that happened to be closed. An officer saw Mr. Mullen pull into the lot and decided to investigate. The officer did not witness any impaired or concerning driving behavior. By the time the officer pulled into the lot, Mr. Mullen had learned the bar was closed and was re-approaching his vehicle. The officer drove his marked squad car into the lot and parked directly behind Mr. Mullen's vehicle. Next, the officer shined his squad's high-intensity spotlight directly at Mr. Mullen, impeding his sight. The officer did so even though Mr. Mullen was already standing in an illuminated area next to the bar. The officer made verbal contact with Mr. Mullen, then got out of his squad while wearing his Sheriff's uniform with his pistol displayed on his hip. He told Mr. Mullen that he worked for the Waukesha County Sheriff's Department during this face-to-face confrontation.

1. Under these circumstances would a reasonable person in Mr. Mullen's position feel free to leave—i.e., either walk away or return to their vehicle and ignore the officer?

The circuit court wrongly found that Mr. Mullen was not seized during this encounter. (R.50:51; App.51).

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is unnecessary. Because the matter involves a Fourth Amendment issue of great import, publication is warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Factual Background.

Around 1:20 A.M. on March 17, 2018, Deputy Ollinger was stopped at an intersection as he observed Mr. Mullen proceed through a green light. (R.50:4-5; App.4-5). Even though Mr. Mullen did not commit a traffic violation, Deputy Ollinger ran Mr. Mullen's vehicle through his TIME system. (R.50:9; App.9). Deputy Ollinger noticed that Mullen's vehicle was properly registered. (Id.). With still no traffic violation, Deputy Ollinger followed Mr. Mullen northbound. (R.50:5; App.5). He then observed Mr. Mullen turn into the parking lot of Shooter's Pub and Grill. (Id.). When Mr. Mullen pulled into the parking lot, the pub's street sign and doorway were both illuminated. (R.50:19; App.19). Deputy Ollinger then drove past the pub, made a U-turn, and drove past the pub a second time. (R.50:21; App.21). He then made a second U-turn and drove into the pub's parking lot. (Id.). Upon seeing Mr. Mullen at the front of the pub, Deputy Ollinger advised Waukesha County Communications Center that he would conduct an investigatory stop on Mr. Mullen. (R.50:29; App.29).

When Deputy Ollinger entered the pub's parking lot, he parked his marked squad car directly behind Mr. Mullen's vehicle, which was parked facing the pub. (R.50:17, 24-26, 30; App.17, 24-26, 30). At this time, the pub was closed. (R.50:5-6; App.5-6). There were no other pedestrians or vehicles in sight. (R.50:5-6, 35-36; App.5-6, 35-36). Mr. Mullen was standing on the curb next to the front of the pub. (R.50:5-6; App.5-6). A light from the pub illuminated him. (R.50:7, App.7). The headlights from Deputy Ollinger's squad also illuminated Mr. Mullen. (R.50:30-31; App.30-31). Notwithstanding Mr. Mullen's visibility, Deputy Ollinger shined his squad's spotlight directly at Mr. Mullen, impeding his sight. (Id.). Deputy Ollinger testified that this spotlight serves a "disabling function," and that it is an "extremely high intensity spotlight." (Id.). During this time, Mr. Mullen either stood facing Deputy Ollinger or the side of his body was positioned facing Deputy Ollinger. (R.50:36; App.36). At no time did Mr. Mullen have his back faced toward Deputy Ollinger. (Id.).

Deputy Ollinger exited his squad and confronted Mr. Mullen. (R.50:31-33; App.31-33). Deputy Ollinger's squad car was equipped with emergency lights and marked with "Sheriff's Department" on it. (R.50:27-28; App.27-28). Deputy Ollinger wore his Sheriff's uniform with his badge on the front. (R.50:28-29; App.28-29). Visibly

displayed on his hip was his firearm. (*Id.*). Mr. Mullen did not initiate the conversation—Deputy Ollinger did. (R.50:31-34; App.31-34). Deputy Ollinger approached Mr. Mullen and informed him that he was a deputy with the Waukesha County Sheriff's Department. (*Id.*).

Deputy Ollinger then interrogated Mr. Mullen, asking him about the location from which he had driven and if he had consumed alcohol. (R.50:8; App.8). At this point, Mr. Mullen was clearly detained. Mr. Mullen informed Deputy Ollinger that he was not going to drive anymore and that he was going to get an Uber ride home. (*Id.*). Deputy Ollinger then attempted to subject Mr. Mullen to field sobriety tests, which Mr. Mullen declined. (R.50:10; App.10). Without administering a PBT, he arrested Mr. Mullen for OWI. (*Id.*). At no point during Deputy Ollinger's interaction with Mr. Mullen did he tell Mr. Mullen that he was free to leave. (R.50:35; App.35).

II. Procedural Background.

On March 16, 2018, the State cited Mr. Mullen with a refusal and the County cited Mr. Mullen with OWI (1st). (R.1:1). On April 12, 2018, the County cited Mr. Mullen with operating with a PAC (1st).

On August 22, 2018, Mr. Mullen filed a Motion to Suppress Fruits of Unreasonable Seizure. The State did not file a response to the suppression motion.

On December 7, 2018, the circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Mullen's motion to suppress. (R.50; App.1). Deputy Ollinger was the State's only witness at the hearing. (R.50:3; App.3). Prior to any testimony, the State stipulated that Officer Ollinger lacked reasonable suspicion to initially seize Mr. Mullen for OWI. (R.50:2-3; App.2-3). The State argued instead that Mr. Mullen was not seized until he spoke with the officer and the officer noticed signs of impairment. (R.50:42-45; App.42-45). After the circuit court heard testimony, it denied Mr. Mullen's suppression motion. (R.50:50; R.22:1; App.50).

On January 3, 2019, Mr. Mullen filed his Motion for Reconsideration. (R.21:1-9). The circuit court denied that motion on January 4, 2019. (R.23:1; App.55).

On June 26, 2019, the circuit court held a trial finding Mr. Mullen guilty in 18-TR-1713, and finding that Mr. Mullen's refusal

was not reasonable in 18-TR-1683. (R.32:1-2). On that same day, the circuit court dismissed Mr. Mullen's citation for operating with a PAC in 18-TR-2263.

On June 27, 2019, Mr. Mullen timely filed his Notice of Appeal. (R.33:1; App.61). This appeal follows. (*Id.*).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's order granting or denying a suppression motion is reviewed as a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶13, 327 Wis.2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. While a circuit court's findings of fact are reviewed for clear error, "[t]he application of constitutional principles to those facts is a question of law" reviewed "de novo." *Id.* "The constitutional reasonableness of a search and seizure is a question of law" reviewed *de novo* and "without deference to the ruling of the circuit court." *State v. Nicholson*, 174 Wis.2d 542, 545 (Ct. App. 1993).

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Erred by Finding that Mr. Mullen was not Seized Until He Incriminated Himself.

"A seizure occurs if 'in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." *Brendlin v. California*, 551 U.S. 249, 255 (2007) (quoting *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980)). A key factor in determining whether someone is seized is how "intimidating" is the encounter? *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶24, 356 Wis.2d 343 (citing *INS v. Delgado*, 466 U.S. 210, 216 (1984)).

Here, the seizure occurred around 1:20 A.M. (R.50:24; App.24). There were no other pedestrians in sight and the business was closed. (R.50:5-6, 35-36; App.5-6; App.5-6, 35-36). Deputy Ollinger parked his squad car directly behind Mullen's vehicle. (R.50:17, 24-26, 30; App.17, 24-26, 30). He then got out of his squad and confronted Mr. Mullen. (R.50:31-33; App.31-33). Deputy Ollinger wore his Sheriff's uniform and had his firearm displayed on his hip. (R.50:28-29; App.28-29). During this time, Deputy Ollinger used the high-intensity spotlight on the side of his marked squad car and shined it directly at Mr. Mullen, impeding his sight. (R.50:30-31; App.30-31). Deputy Ollinger told Mr. Mullen that he worked for the Waukesha County

Sheriff's Department. (R.50:31-34; App.31-34). He then interrogated Mr. Mullen, asking him about the location from which he had driven and if he had consumed alcohol. (R.50:8, App.8). No reasonable person in Mr. Mullen's position would think they were free to ignore the officer, get in their car, and flee the scene.

The circuit court relied heavily, if not exclusively, on *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, 356 Wis.2d 343. (R.50:48; App.48). The circuit court incorrectly reasoned that "[t]he facts of *Vogt* are very similar to this case." (*Id.*). A close reading of *Vogt* does not support the circuit court's conclusion, however. *Vogt* was a very limited holding, concluding that an officer's act of knocking on a car's closed window, without more, did not constitute a seizure. *Id.*, ¶3. However, once the driver rolled down his window, he was "seized." *See id.*, ¶¶3, 29, 39, 54 ("The facts in this case do not show a level of intimidation or exercise of authority sufficient to implicate the Fourth Amendment *until after Vogt rolled down his window* and exposed the grounds for a seizure.") (emphasis added). The court twice emphasized throughout the opinion that "this is a close case." *See id.*, ¶¶ 3, 54.

Vogt also dealt with an entirely different situation—a person in the safety of their vehicle (with another person), guarded by the car's window. Id., ¶54. The window serves as a barrier to outsiders. The circuit court's comparison of this case to *Vogt* amounts to this: if there is a glass barrier between Mr. Mullen and Deputy Ollinger, then there is no seizure, but if that glass barrier is removed, then Deputy Ollinger seized Mr. Mullen. In this case, there was no glass barrier preventing any contact between Mr. Mullen and Deputy Ollinger. Instead, the contact involved a face-to-face confrontation. (R.50:31-34; App.31-34). The *Vogt* situation is significantly different because Vogt is inside his car and can elect not to roll down his window. Keeping his window rolled up would have allowed Vogt to avoid further conversation and interaction with the officer. Mr. Mullen's only options, however, were to either flee from an officer who had exited his vehicle and lit him up with a spotlight (Mr. Mullen was in an illuminated location to begin with) or submit to Deputy Ollinger's show of authority. He chose the latter and was surely seized for purposes of the Fourth Amendment. No reasonable person in these circumstances would feel free to leave.

A person is seized when there is "submission" to the "show of authority." *Brendlin*, 551 U.S. at 254 ("A police officer may make a seizure by a show of authority and without the use of physical force."); *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 626 (1991). "[W]hat may

Case 2019AP001187 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-15-2019 Page 10 of 15

amount to submission depends on what a person was doing before the show of authority: a fleeing man is not seized until he is physically overpowered, but one sitting in a chair may submit to authority by not getting up to run away." Brendlin, 551 U.S. at 254 ("Here, Brendlin had no effective way to signal submission while the car was still moving on the roadway, but once it came to a stop he could, and apparently did, submit by staying inside."). Similarly, here, a person standing outside a closed bar submits to authority by not leaving the scene. See id. That is precisely what Mr. Mullen did. (R.50:25-26; App.25-26). Upon Deputy Ollinger's arrival, Mr. Mullen began to walk towards his vehicle to leave. (Id.). Before he could reach his vehicle, Deputy Ollinger shined his high-intensity squad spotlight directly at Mr. Mullen. (R.50:30-31; App.30-31). At that time, Mr. Mullen was already under the bar's bright floodlight immediately overhead and also illuminated by the squad's headlights. (R.50:7, 30-31; App.7, 30-31). This additional show of authority—considered with the full context and the circumstances—resulted in a seizure. As in Brendlin, Mr. Mullen's "attempt to leave the scene would so likely prompt an objection from the officer that no [person] would feel free to leave in the first place." See id. at 257.

Courts have found similar police-citizen confrontations to constitute seizures. In *People v. Garry*, the court found a seizure where the officer "bathed" the defendant in the patrol car's spotlight, exited his squad car while armed and in uniform, walked towards the defendant, and asked him if he was on probation or parole. Cal.Rptr.3d 849, 858-59 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007). In State v. Jestice, the court found a seizure where a uniformed officer parked his marked patrol car late at night in a dark lot with no one else around, left the cruiser's headlights shining in the detained couple's faces as he approached them, and asked them what they were doing. 861 A.2d 1060, 1062-63 (Vt. 2004). In Crain v. State, the court found a seizure where the officer shined his patrol car's spotlight on the defendant and told him to "come over here and talk to me." 315 S.W.3d 43, 52 (Tex. Crim. App. 2010). In State v. Garcia-Cantu, the court found a seizure where the officer parked his squad car about ten feet behind and to the left of defendant's vehicle, shined his patrol car spotlight on defendant's truck, got out of his squad car and approached the defendant's truck with his flashlight, and asked the defendant, "[y]ou got an ID on you?" 253 S.W.3d 236, 244-49 (Tex. Crim App. 2008).

Mr. Mullen does not ask this Court for a bright-line rule that officers can never use a spotlight without seizing a suspect. Much like

Case 2019AP001187 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-15-2019 Page 11 of 15

any other on-duty decision (tone of voice, display of firearm, manner of approach), the use of a spotlight is a factor under the totality of the circumstances. As noted heavily by the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals, the "use of the spotlight is a factor to be considered in the totality-of-the-circumstances assessment and, 'combined with other circumstances, may well establish a Fourth Amendment detention." Crain, 315 S.W.3d at 51 (quoting Garcia-Cantu, 253 S.W.3d at 245). The test of whether a person is "seized" is "designed to assess the coercive effect of police conduct, taken as a whole, rather than to focus on particular details of that conduct in isolation." Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567, 573 (1988) (emphasis added).

Deputy Ollinger's use of the high-intensity spotlight must be considered with: (1) the time (1:20 A.M.) and place (outside a closed bar in a somewhat rural area) of the confrontation; (2) the lack of any pedestrians in sight; (3) Deputy Ollinger's marked squad car, full uniform, and pistol on his hip; (4) that Deputy Ollinger parked his squad car directly behind Mr. Mullen's vehicle; (5) that Deputy Ollinger initiated the confrontation and told Mr. Mullen that he worked for the Waukesha County Sheriff's Office; (6) Deputy Ollinger's OWI interrogation of Mr. Mullen about his drinking and the location from which he drove; and (7) that Deputy Ollinger followed Mr. Mullen while driving and circled back twice while driving to check on Mr. Mullen. (R.50:5-6, 8, 17, 21, 24-36; App.5-6, 8, 17, 21, 24-36).

These circumstances show a seizure. See Riley v. State, 892 A.2d 370, 374 (Del. 2006) (concluding that "when police approached [defendant's car] with their badges and flashlights, after having parked their police vehicle . . . so as to prevent [defendant] from driving away, a seizure had taken place"); Jestice, 861 A.2d at 1063 ("[W]hen a police cruiser completely blocks a motorist's car from leaving, courts generally find a seizure. . . . [T]he fact that it was possible for the couple to back and maneuver their car past the patrol car and out of the trailhead parking lot does not convince us that this was a consensual encounter") (emphasis added); United States v. Jones, 678 F.3d 293 (4th Cir. 2012) (concluding that the officers seized the defendant because "two police officers in uniform in a marked police patrol car conspicuously followed Jones from a public street onto private property and blocked Jones's car from leaving the scene.") (emphasis added); Swift v. State, 899 A.2d 867, 877 (Md. 2006) (noting that the "time of night of the encounter [3:13 a.m.], the officer's conduct before he approached petitioner [repeatedly driving past him as he was walking in a 'high crime area'], the blocking of petitioner's path with the police

cruiser, headlights shining on petitioner, the officer's testimony that he was conducting an investigatory field stop, and the warrants check, taken together, lead us to conclude that petitioner was seized"); *United States v. Jerez*, 108 F.3d 684, 690 (7th Cir. 1997) (noting that the trial court "failed to consider adequately two significant factors: the place and the time of the encounter.").

The seizure was unreasonable and all "fruits" should have been suppressed. See Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484 (1963); State v. Harris, 206 Wis.2d 243, 263 (1996); State v. Schneidewind, 47 Wis.2d 110, 118 (1970). Further, because Mr. Mullen's refusal (contrary to § 343.305(3)(a)) resulted from the unreasonable seizure, the circuit court should have dismissed the refusal. See State v. Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, ¶¶42-43, 341 Wis.2d 576 (concluding that if reasonable suspicion does not support a seizure or if probable cause does not support an arrest, the refusal must be dismissed).

CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse the circuit court's denial of Mr. Mullen's motion to suppress and order suppression of all fruits of the unreasonable seizure and also order dismissal of Mr. Mullen's refusal.