**RECEIVED** 

STATE OF WISCONSIN

02-03-2020

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT II** 

Appeal Case No. 19-AP-1187

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DONALD SIMON MULLEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL P. MAXWELL PRESIDING Case No. 18-TR-1683

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

Sue Opper District Attorney Waukesha County

Shawn N. Woller Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1084308 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 515 West Moreland Blvd. G-72 Waukesha, WI 53188 (262) 548-7076

## INDEE OF CONTENTS

Page

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW1
ARGUMENT2
I. Deputy Ollinger's Conduct, under the Totality of the Circumstances, Did Not Amount to a Seizure of Appellant Mullen
CONCLUSION6

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **CASES CITED**

Page	e
County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 2533, 4, 5, 6	
Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429 (1991)	
INS v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210 (1984)	
State v. Baker, 141 Idaho 163, 107 P.3d 1214 (2004)	
State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 8342	
State v. Young, 135 Wash.2d 498, 957 P.2d 681 (1998)	
State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729	
<i>United States v. Drayton</i> , 536 U.S. 194 (2002)	
<i>United States v. Mendenhall</i> , 446 U.S. 544 (1980)	

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Was the police encounter in the parking lot of a bar and grill, after hours of operation, where the deputy illuminated the defendant with his spot light, but did not activate his emergency lights, make any verbal commands compelling the defendant to stay on scene, or block the defendant's vehicle, a seizure for purposes of the 4<sup>th</sup>?

The trial court answered, no.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. See Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not be eligible for publication. See Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State will supplement Appellant Mullen's statement of the case and facts as appropriate in its argument.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether a person has been seized is a question of constitutional fact." State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 17, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. This Court "accept[s] the circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous." Id. And it "determine[s] independently whether or when a seizure occurred." Id.

#### ARGUMENT

I. Deputy Ollinger's Conduct, under the Totality of the Circumstances, Did Not Amount to a Seizure of Appellant Mullen.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I. Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures." State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (footnotes omitted). But "not all police-citizen contacts constitute a seizure," so "many such contacts do not fall within the safeguards afforded by the Fourth Amendment." Id.

The United States Supreme Court has stated that "a person is 'seized' only when, by means of physical force or a show of authority, his freedom of movement is restrained." United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 553 (1980). It has noted "[e]xamples of circumstances that might indicate a seizure, even where the person did not attempt to leave, would be the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." Id. at 554. "In the absence of some such evidence, otherwise inoffensive contact between a member of the public and the police cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a seizure of that person." *Id.* at 555.

The seizure test asks whether "a reasonable person would have believed he was free to disregard the police presence and go about his business." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 18. It is an objective test that "presupposes an innocent person." Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 438 (1991). While most citizens respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and without being told they are free not to respond, does not eliminate the consensual nature of the response. *INS v*. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210, 216 (1984); State v. Williams, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 23, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834. In determining whether a person has been seized, the court must replace the individual person with the model of a reasonable person and

focus on the officer's conduct under the totality of the circumstances. *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76,  $\P$  31, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253.

The question before the Court is whether Appellant Mullen was seized by Deputy Ollinger when he made contact with Appellant Mullen in the parking lot of a closed bar and grill, where the deputy illuminated Appellant Mullen with his spotlight, but did not activate his emergency lights, make any verbal commands compelling Appellant Mullen to stay on scene, or block Appellant Mullen's vehicle. As in *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 54, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 374, 850 N.W.2d 253, 268, the totality of the circumstances in this case "do not show a level of intimidation or exercise of authority sufficient to implicate the Fourth Amendment" until after Appellant Mullen spoke to Deputy Ollinger, repeating himself, swearing, with slurred speech, and emitting the odor of intoxicants, then exposing the grounds for a seizure. (Appellant App. 9).

In *Vogt*, an officer's contact with occupants of a parked car was not a seizure. 2014 WI 76, ¶ 54. An officer who was patrolling a small village during the early morning hours on Christmas saw a car pull into a parking lot next to a closed park. *Id.* at ¶4. The officer did not observe any traffic violations but thought the driver's (Vogt's) conduct was suspicious and "odd," given that it was Christmas and the park was closed. *Id*. at ¶5. The officer stopped his squad "behind Vogt's vehicle [and] a little off to the driver's side," leaving the headlights on and the engine running, but without activating the red and blue emergency lights. *Id.* at ¶6. Vogt's vehicle was still running, and the officer stated that he was not blocking Vogt's vehicle, though Vogt disagreed. Id. The officer, in full uniform and with his firearm holstered, approached the vehicle, and observed two occupants. Id. at ¶7. The officer rapped on the driver's window and motioned for Vogt to roll it down. Id. Vogt rolled down the window. Id. at ¶8. The officer asked Vogt what he was doing, and when Vogt answered, the officer observed that Vogt's speech was slurred and that he could smell the odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle. Id. From there, the officer investigated Vogt based on those observations, and ultimately arrested him for operating while intoxicated and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. Id. The Court held that an

officer's parking near another person's vehicle, getting out, and knocking on the window is not necessarily a sufficient display of authority to cause a reasonable person to believe that he or she was not free to go. *Id.* at ¶38.

Deputy Ollinger acted similarly to the officer in *Vogt*. He checked on a parked vehicle in a parking lot of a closed location. (Appellant App. 5-6). Deputy Ollinger did not activate his red and blue emergency lights. (Appellant App. 6). Deputy Ollinger was also in full uniform, with his firearm holstered. (Appellant App. 28). While Deputy Ollinger utilized a spotlight, whereas the officer in Vogt did not, that fact does not appear consequential, particularly because Deputy Ollinger neither pulled over Appellant Mullen's car, nor activated his emergency lights. Appellant Mullen has cited to cases from other jurisdictions where use of a spotlight contributed to a seizure, (Appellant Br. 6), however, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Young* noted "that many courts have concluded that the use of a spotlight is not a show of authority sufficient to effect a seizure. See State v. Baker, 141 Idaho 163, 107 P.3d 1214, 1216–18 (2004) (use of spotlight is no seizure; collecting cases holding the same); State v. Young, 135 Wash.2d 498, 957 P.2d 681, 688–89 (1998) (finding that under the totality of the circumstances, illuminating the defendant with a spotlight does not a seizure make)." Young, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶65 n.18. The Court also acknowledged that "spotlights are likely to be used at night." Id. Deputy Ollinger utilized his spotlight, as he is trained to do, in the interests of officer safety, which as the trial court held, was reasonable (Appellant App. 7, 50-51). The fact that Deputy Ollinger used his spotlight, while not activating his emergency lights, blocking Appellant Mullen's vehicle, or any other overt demonstration of authority or control, does not amount to a seizure.

Like the defendant in *Vogt*, Appellant Mullen appears to argue that the proximity of the deputy's squad to his own contributed to a seizure. (Appellant Br. 7-8). Deputy Ollinger described the position of his squad to be parked behind Appellant Mullen but offset to the left. (Appellant App. 7). Deputy Ollinger did not know the exact distance but testified he was a "fair amount away from [Appellant Mullen]'s vehicle." Id. Deputy Ollinger further testified that Appellant Mullen had enough room to back up and "would have been

able to leave the driveway of the establishment without any problem." (Appellant App. 13). On cross-examination, Appellant Mullen's witness, Mr. Janisch, agreed that it was possible Appellant Mullen could have left by driving straight and turning around. (Appellant App. 41). The Court in Vogt stated that "[a]lthough [the officer] parked directly behind Vogt and allegedly there were obstacles on three sides of Vogt's vehicle, these facts do not demonstrate that Vogt was seized because he still could have driven away." Vogt, 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶41. Similarly here, the position of Deputy Ollinger's squad relative to Appellant Mullen's vehicle does not demonstrate a seizure because Appellant Mullen, too, could have driven away.

Appellant Mullen attempts to distinguish Vogt from the present case by arguing that the glass window of Vogt's vehicle acted as a barrier preventing contact and therefore a seizure. (Appellant Br. 5). However, the United States Supreme Court has held that "law enforcement officers do not violate the Fourth Amendment's prohibition of unreasonable seizures merely by approaching individuals on the street or in other public places and putting questions to them if they are willing to listen." *United States v. Drayton*, 536 U.S. 194, 200 (2002); Bostick, 501 U.S. at 434 ("we have held repeatedly that mere police questioning does not constitute a seizure."). "While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response." Drayton, 536 U.S. at 205 (citation omitted). "The encounter will not trigger Fourth Amendment scrutiny unless it loses its consensual nature." Bostick, 501 U.S. at 434. Even a request for identification may not constitute a seizure: "no seizure occurs when police . . . ask to examine the individual's identification . . . so long as the officers do not convey a message that compliance with their requests is required." Id. at 437. The absence of a "glass barrier" between Deputy Ollinger and Appellant Mullen does not meaningfully change the calculous of whether the encounter amounted to a seizure. Arguably, because Appellant Mullen was already outside his vehicle, without the appearance or prompting of law enforcement, and was not compelled to permit the deputy to bypass any barrier against intrusion, the imposition into his autonomy was likely diminished.

Additionally, the absence of any examples of the circumstances listed in Mendenhall weighs in favor of a consensual encounter rather than a seizure in the present case. *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 555; *See also Vogt*, 356 Wis. 2d 343, ¶ 53. Only one officer, Deputy Ollinger, was present. (Appellant App. 27). Deputy Ollinger never brandished or displayed his firearm. (Appellant App. 10). When Deputy Ollinger started interacting with Appellant Mullen, he maintained some distance and did not physically touch Appellant Mullen. Deputy Ollinger did not use language or tone of voice that would have indicated that compliance with the deputy was compelled. (Appellant App. 8-9) Deputy Ollinger testified that he advised Appellant Mullen who he was, who he worked for, and asked him why he was out at the bar as it appeared to be closed. (Appellant App. 8). Deputy Olliger's tone of voice was the same as when he testified in court. Id. Given the absence of evidence of these Mendenhall factors, or any other sufficient excercise of authority, Deputy Ollinger's otherwise inoffensive contact with Appellant Mullen does not amount to a seizure.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For all of the forgoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the trial court be affirmed.